ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. The Circuit Court Incorrectly Held That W.Va. Code §§ 6l-ll-23(b) Does Not Apply 
Retroactively to Petitioner's Term ofIncarceration Resulting from Criminal Offenses 
that Occurred Prior to the Age of Eighteen. 

II. The Circuit Committed Clear and Reversible Error When It Ruled that Petitioner Was 
Not Denied His Constitutional Due Process Rights Under the Fourteenth Amendment 
to the United States Constitution and Article III, § 10 of the West Virginia Constitution 
Based Upon the Presentation of False and Perjured Testimony During His Criminal 
Jury Trial. 

III. The Circuit Court Committed Clear and Reversible Error When It Ruled that 
Petitioner's Constitutional Right to be Free from Cruel and Unusual Punishment Under 
the Eight Amendment to the United States Constitution Was Not Violated When the 
Trial Court Ran His Sentences Consecutive for an Aggregate Sentence of Thirty-Five 
to Seventy-Five Years. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Procedural History 

On July 12,2012, a petition was filed against the Petitioner in the Circuit Court of Berkeley 

County, sitting as a juvenile court, alleging that Petitioner committed two (2) counts of Sexual 

Assault in the First Degree and two (2) counts of Sexual Abuse by a Custodian. On August 27, 

2013, the State then filed a motion to transfer the case from the juvenile jurisdiction to criminal 

adult jurisdiction. On September 10,2012, a transfer hearing was held before the juvenile court; 

the court granted the State's motion and transferred the case to the adult criminal jurisdiction. 

During the October 2012, term of court, a Berkeley County Grand Jury returned a four-

count indictment charging Petitioner with two (2) counts of Sexual Assault in the First Degree and 

two (2) counts of Sexual Abuse by a Custodian. App. 013-015. On October 26, 2013, Petitioner 

was arraigned in the Circuit Court of Berkeley County, whereupon he entered a plea of not guilty 

on all counts contained in the indictment. 



Dn February S, 2013, a jury trial, Honorable Clnistopher Wilkes presiding, commenced 

against Petitioner on all four counts contained in the indictment. The following witnesses testified 

at the jury trial: (I) J.T. (alleged victim's father) App. 107-122; (2) Trooper Ryan Eshbaugh App. 

122-129; 274-27); (3) S.T. App. 130-152; 192-196; 279-281 (4) W.T. (alleged victim) App. 153-

181 (S) I.T. (alleged victim) App. 181-192; (6) H.W. App. 198-215; (7) Z.W.App. 215-237; (8) 

M.S. App. 281-304; (9) T.S. App. 304-322; (10) S. J. (defendant's mother) App. 328-355; and (II) 

C.J. (Petitioner) App. 355-424. On February 6, 2013, the jury acquitted Petitioner on one count of 

Sexual Abuse in the First Degree, as related to J.T., and found him guilty on the remaining counts 

of the indictment. App. 16-18. Petitioner timely filed his Post-Trial Motion for Judgment of 

Acquittal and a Post-Trial Motion for a New Trial, as a result of his convictions. The Circuit Court 

denied Petitioner's post-trial motions. App. 19. 

On July 29,2013, Petitioner was sentenced upon his jury trial conviction to the following: 

(I) Count Two: Sexual Abuse by a Custodian, W.Va. Code § 61-8D-S, not less than ten years nor 

more than twenty years; (2) Count Tlnee: Sexual Assault in the First Degree, W.Va. Code § 61-

8B-3(a)(2), not less than fifteen years nor more than thirty-five years; and (3) Count Four: Count 

Two: Sexual Abuse by a Custodian, W.Va. Code § 61-8D-S, not less than ten years nor more than 

twenty years. The Circuit Court ordered all sentences to be served consecutively for a total 

indeterminate sentence of thirty-five (3S) to seventy-five (7S) years to be served in the penitentiary 

house of this state. The Petitioner was further sentenced to fifty (SO) years of supervised release 

pursuant to W.Va. Code § 62-12-26 and required to register as a sexual offender for the remainder 

of his life pursuant to W.Va. Code IS-12-2. App. 19-23. A review of the West Virginia Department 

of Corrections search function indicates that Petitioner is not eligible for parole consideration until 
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October 17, 2047, exactly thirty-five (35) years from his effective sentence date of October 17, 

2012. 

Following the imposition of his sentence, Petitioner timely filed a notice of intent to appeal 

his convictions and sentence. Petitioner appealed his convictions on the following grounds: (1) the 

Circuit Court erred when it denied Petitioner's properly made Post-Trial Motion for Judgment of 

Acquittal; (2) the Circuit Court erred when it admitted the Z.W. 404(b) evidence because it failed 

to properly follow the standard for admission established by McGinnis and its progeny; (3) the 

Circuit Court erred when it admitted the Z.W. 404(b) evidence because the State failed to identify 

a proper, relevant purpose for its admission; (4) the Circuit Court erred when it admitted statements 

made by Petitioner to M.S. because the statements were not admissions, nor were they intrinsic to, 

the crimes charged; and (5) the Circuit Court committed reversible error when it permitted the 

introduction of hearsay testimony of J.T. and W.T. that was introduced at trial through their 

mother, S.T. On June 13, 2014, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, in a Rule 21 

Memorandum Decision, affirmed the Petitioner's conviction in a 5-0 ruling. 

On January 28, 2015, Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On October 5, 

2016, after the withdrawal of his original habeas counsel, Petitioner filed an amended Petition for 

Writ of Habeas Corpus. On April 14, 2017, the State filed its Response to the amended Petition. 

On October 6, 2017, the Circuit Court of Berkeley County entered an Order Dismissing Petition 

for Writ of Habeas Corpus. App. 001-012. Petitioner now seeks relief from the Circuit Court's 

Order Denying Habeas Relief, his Conviction Order, and his Sentencing Orders pursuant to W.Va. 

Code §53-4A-1 alleging that his convictions are unlawful and violated his constitutional due 

process rights. 

B. Relevant Factual History 
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On or about November 10, 2007, S.T., hired Petitioner to babysit her two sons, JT. and 

W.T. App. 121. S.T. picked up Petitioner from his residence and transported him to her residence 

and gave him general instructions prior to leaving that evening. App. 135. Upon arriving home 

from her evening out, ST. drove Petitioner home. App. 137. After dropping Petitioner at his 

residence, S.T. returned home. Years later, S.T. alleges that she noticed the home in general 

disarray and discovered one of her decorative towels in her bathroom with what she alleges was 

ketchup on it. fd. At that time, she neither questioned her children, nor Petitioner about the general 

disarray of the home or the stained decorative towel. App. 139. She stated that she never asked 

Petitioner to babysit again based solely upon the condition of the home. App. 151. Petitioner only 

babysat J.T. and W.T. that one time in November 2007. fd. There was no indication at that time 

that anything improper occurred and the there was no mention or suggestion by, or to, the children 

that Petitioner never be permitted to babysit J.T. or W.T. again. App. 152. 

Five years later, in January 2012, W.T. informed his father that he did not want Petitioner 

to babysit again. App. 165. WT. claimed Petitioner made him "suck his weenie" the night 

Petitioner babysat in November 2007. fd. S.T questioned both W.T. and J.T. regarding the 

allegations made by W.T., and shortly thereafter contacted the West Virginia State Police. App. 

134-135. A juvenile petition was filed against Petitioner because at the time of the alleged crimes 

he was sixteen (16) years of age. Following the juvenile petition, the State then filed, and was 

granted, a motion to transfer the case to adult criminal jurisdiction. 

At trial, the only evidence the State was able to produce related to the sexual assault 

allegations against J.T. was JTo's statement "Michael made us suck his weenie." App. 186-187. 

Upon further questioning, J.T. admitted that his statement was solely based upon W.T. telling him 

and his parents that is what had occurred. App. 190-191 W.T. was not in the bathroom when J.T. 
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was allegedly alone with the Petitioner. App. 157-158. IT. had no independent recollection of 

what transpired on the night in question. App. 191. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioner argues that he is entitled to an amendment of his Sentencing Order to reflect his 

eligibility for release by parole during the fifteenth year of his incarceration pursuant to W.Va. 

Code § 61-11-23(b). The offense for which Petitioner has been sentenced occurred when he was 

sixteen (16) years old. W.Va. Code § 61-11-23(b), which this Court should hold operates 

retroactively, provides that if a juvenile offenders aggregate sentence makes him or her ineligible 

for parole until after serving fifteen (15) years than he or she is eligible after serving fifteen (15) 

years of incarceration if the person was less than eighteen (18) years old at the time each offense 

was committed. 

Petitioner further argues that his conviction was unlawfully obtained and in violation of his 

constitutional due process rights when the State presented the testimony of J.T., which it knew, or 

should have known, was fabricated andlor coerced due to the lack of personal knowledge of the 

witness. The testimony of IT. should have never been offered by the State because it knew, or 

should have known, that the testimony was unsupported by any independent or personal 

knowledge of the witness and was likely to be heavily influenced and/or fabricated by discussion 

with his parents and or brother. The Petitioner should have been afforded an evidentiary hearing 

to more fully develop this matter prior to the Court's determination of the affect it had on his 

underlying criminal jury trial and whether his constitutional due process rights were violated. 

Petitioner concedes that his sentences were within statutory limits and not based upon an 

imperruissible factor. See Syllabus Point 4, State v. Goodnight, 169 W.Va. 366,287 S.E.2d 504 

(1982). However, at the time of the alleged crimes, Petitioner was sixteen (16) years of age. 
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Initially, Petitioner was charged as a juvenile and subsequently transferred to adult criminal status. 

The allegations against Petitioner, while severe, were limited to a one- time event that allegedly 

occurred for a period often (10) seconds. Taking into account the one-time allegation, Petitioner's 

sentence ofthirty-five (35) to seventy-five (75) years is so disproportionate to the crime for which 

he was convicted that is shocks the conscience and offends fundamental notions of human dignity 

as prohibited by Article III, Section 5, of the West Virginia Constitution and its United States 

counterpart. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record on 

appeal; thus, the decisional process will likely not be significantly aided by oral argument. Should 

the Court determine, however, that oral argument would be helpful in the disposition of this case, 

the Petitioner respectfully requests a Rule 19 argument. This matter is appropriate for a ruling by 

Memorandum Decision. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court in a habeas 

corpus action, we apply a three-prong standard of review. We review the final order and the 

ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying factual findings under a 

clearly erroneous standard; and questions of law are subject to a de novo review." Syllabus Point 

1, Mathena v. Haines, 633 S.E.2d 771, 219 W.Va. 417 (W.Va. 2006). 

"Generally, findings of fact are reviewed for clear error and conclusions of law are 

reviewed de novo. However, ostensible findings of fact, which entail the application of law or 

constitute legal judgments which transcend ordinary factual determinations, must be reviewed de 

novo." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State ex rei. Cooper v. Caperton, 196 W.Va. 208, 470 S.E.2d 162 (1996). 
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ARGUMENT OF LAW 

I. The Circuit Court Incorrectly Held That W.Va. Code §§ 61-11-23(b) Does Not Apply 
Retroactively to Petitioner's Term ofIncarceration Resulting from Criminal Offenses 
that Occurred Prior to the Age of Eighteen. 

On July 29, 2013, Petitioner was sentenced to an indeterminate sentence of thirty-five (35) 

to seventy-five (75) years of incarceration to be served at the penitentiary house of this state. At 

the time of Petitioner's alleged crimes, Petitioner was sixteen (16) years of age. Petitioner was 

originally charged by juvenile petition and subsequently transferred to adult criminal status in the 

Circuit Court of Berkeley County. As a result of the sentence imposed by the Circuit Court, 

Petitioner is not eligible for parole until serving a minimum of thirty-five (35) years. 

W.Va. Code § 61-11-23(b), as amended 2015, states the following: 

Unless otherwise provide by this code, the provision of article twelve, chapter sixty
two of this code shall govern the eligibility for parole of a person who is convicted 
of an offense and sentenced to confinement if he or she was less than eighteen years 
of age at the time the offense was committed, except that a person who is convicted 
of one or more offenses for which the sentence or any combination of sentences 
imposed is for a period that renders the person ineligible for parole until he or she 
has served more than fifteen years shall be eligible for parole after he or she has 
served fifteen years if the person was less than eighteen years of age at the time 
each offense was committed. 

Notably, Subsection b, is contained within the statute making life imprisonment without 

the possibility of parole impermissible for juvenile offenders, as held unconstitutional by the 

United States Supreme Court in Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (201O)(citations omitted). In 

Graham, the Court required the government to provide [in life imprisonment cases 1 "a meaningful 

opportunity to obtain release [for juvenile offenders 1 based on demonstrated maturity and 

rehabilitation." Id. at 82. Although the holding in Graham was specifically limited in application 
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to "me'aningful opportunity to obtain release" in life without parole cases in non-homicide 

offenses, the Court's reasoning implies that all juvenile offenders should be entitled to such 

meaningful opportunity. See Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2010) (citations omitted) 

(extending the holding in Graham to homicide offenses committed by juveniles). 

The Court recognized that juveniles are fundamentally different from adults because 

juveniles have: (l) "lessened culpability they are less deserving of the most severe punishments;" 

(2) "lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility;" (3) "susceptibility to negative 

influences and outside pressure, including peer pressure;" and (4) characters [that] are 'not as well 

formed'" as those of adults. Id. at 68. The Court emphasized that "[f]rom a moral standpoint it 

would be misguided to equate the failings of minors with those of an adult, for a greater possibility 

exists that a minor's character deficiencies will be reformed." Id. Further, the "nature of all 

juveniles" is common to all adolescents, regardless of the crimes they commit or sentences they 

receive. Id. Here, the Petitioner received the most severe punishment possible under the applicable 

sentencing guidelines for his convictions. 

In 2016, the Supreme Court held that the substantive rule of law originating in 

Graham/Miller applied retroactively. Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718, 193 L.Ed.2d 599, 

84 USLW 4063 (2016). The Court's ruling in Montgomery embodies the spirit of Graham/Miller, 

which is: "[t]he opportunity for release [on parole] should be afforded to those who demonstrate 

the truth of Miller's central intuition - that children who commit even heinous crimes are capable 

of change." Id. at 736. 

In the years following the Court's rulings, several states have passed legislation that goes 

well beyond the minimal requirements of Graham/Miller by creating parole procedures that offer 

juvenile offenders a greater likelihood of release on parole after serving fewer years that the 
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original" sentence anticipated. At the forefront, the California Legislature has created specialized 

parole procedures for individuals sentence to life, and other lengthy prison sentences, in adult court 

for crimes before they reached the age of eighteen (18). See CAL. PENAL CODE §§ 3051, 4801 

(2014). Following that trend, West Virginia, along with Massachusetts and Comlecticut, passed 

similar legislation ensuring juveniles advanced opportunity to seek parole. See W Va. Ann. Code 

§ 61-22-23(b); S.B. 796 Gen. Assemb., Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2015); HB.4307, 1881h Gen . Ct. (Mass. 

2014). 

In the instant case, the Circuit Court incorrectly held that W.Va. Code § 61-11-23(b) does 

not apply retroactively because the Legislature did not insert any language that would render 

W.Va. Code § 61-11-23(b) expressly retroactive. This conclusion not only fails to consider the 

spirit of Graham/Miller, but additionally, fails to consider fue effect of W.Va. Code § 61-11-23 in 

its entirety. For example, W.Va. Code § 61-11-23(a) prohibits the imposition of a life sentence 

without the possibility of parole for juvenile offenders. Upon information and belief, this section 

has been given retroactive effect after guidance to the state parole board from the Attorney 

General's office, and is being instituted in all cases where juvenile offenders were sentenced to 

life without the possibility of parole.! If that is fue case, then it begs to reason why Subsection b 

would not be given the same retroactive effect and provide a juvenile offender, whose aggregate 

sentence provides for parole eligibility after fifteen (15) years, the same meaningful opportunity 

to obtain release by parole after a period of fifteen (15) years of incarceration. 

Further supporting the proposition that the Legislature intended retroactivity, is the 

language contained in W.V. Code § 61-11-23( d)(2), which specifically holds that the provision of 

! It is unclear if the state parole board was given the same guidance in regards to §61-11-23(b), 
but it is not reflected in the Petitioner's Department of Correction file, nor has he been informed 
of any opportunity for advanced parole opportunities. 
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W.Va. 'Code § 61-11-23(d)(J) do not apply retroactively. It would make little sense that the 

Legislature felt the need to ensure Subsection (d)(l) was not applied retroactively if it did not 

intend for the remainder of § 61-11-23 to apply retroactively to a juvenile serving a term of 

incarceration. Rather, the Legislature intended §61-11-23(d)(1) to apply prospectively only 

because it deals with certain sentencing guidelines a circuit court must consider prior to imposing 

a penitentiary sentence to a juvenile transferred to adult jurisdiction. Presumably, the Legislature 

did not want the enactment of § 61-11-23 to be a basis for requesting a new sentencing hearing. 

Here, the Petitioner is not requesting a new sentencing hearing, only that his Sentencing Order 

reflect the provisions of § 61-11-23(b) providing him the opportunity to present himself before a 

parole board after serving fifteen years of his current sentence, if upheld. Currently, his Department 

of Corrections file indicates he will not have that opportunity until serving thirty-five (35) years 

of incarceration. 

Finally, W.Va. Code § 62-12-13(b)(a) provides the following: 

When a person who is serving a sentence imposed as the result of an offense or 
offenses committed when he or she was less than eighteen years of age becomes 
eligible for parole pursuant to applicable provisions ofthis code, including, but not 
limited to, section twenty-three, article eleven, chapter sixty-one thereof, the parole 
board shall ensure that the procedures governing its consideration of the person's 
application for parole ensure that he or she is provided a meaningful opportunity to 
obtain release and shall adopt rules and guidelines to do so that are consistent with 
existing case law. 

W.Va. Code § 61-12-13(b)(a) (2014) (emphasis added). In this section, the Legislature directly 

referenced W.Va. § 61-11-23 in discussing the parole eligibility of persons serving sentences 

imposed as the result of offenses that were committed prior to reaching the age of majority. When 

both statutes are considered jointly, it is undeniable that the Legislature intended for the 

retroactivity of special parole considerations for persons serving long prison sentences as a result

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