IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 

CHRISTOPHER J., 
Petitioner, 

v. Appeal No. 17-0994 

RALPH TERRY, Acting Warden, 
Mount Olive Correctional Complex, 

Respondent. 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT 

Respondent Ralph Terry, Acting Warden of the Mount Olive Correctional Complex, by 

counsel, Robert 1. Hogan, Deputy Attorney General, respectfully responds to Petitioner's Brief 

filed in the above-styled appeal. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate his entitlement to habeas 

relief and, therefore, the Circuit Court of Berkeley County' s order denying the petition for writ of 

habeas corpus should be affinned. 

I. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

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

1 Petitioner has not argued that Miller should be extended to apply to aggregate sentences. But cf Lucero 
v. Colorado, 394 P.3d 1128, 1133, cert. denied sub nom. Lucero v. Colorado, 138 S. Ct. 641, 199 L. Ed. 
2d 544 (2018) (noting that "multiple sentences imposed for mUltiple offenses do not become a sentence·of 
life without parole, even though they may result in a lengthy term of incarceration" and finding Graham 
and Miller did not apply to eighty-four year aggregate term based on four consecutive sentences); Ira v. 
Janecka, No. S-I-SC-35657, 2018 WL 1247219, at *6 (N.M. Mar. 9,2018) (determining Graham and 
Miller "should be applied to a multiple term-of-years sentence"); Vasquez v. Virginia, 781 S.E.2d 920,925 
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based on the same principles of giving juvenile offenders earlier opportunities for rehabilitation, it 

does not represent a new constitntional rule; accordingly, the USSC's decisions in Miller and 

Montgomery do not require § 61-11-23(b) to be applied retroactively. 

4. West Virginia Code Section 62-12-13b(a) Does Not Snpport a Finding That 
Section 61-11-23(b) Must Be Applied Retroactively. 

Petitioner also cites to another statnte enacted in 2014 addressing parole for juvenile 

offenders convicted as adults, and argues that if considered jointly with West Virginia Code § 61-

11-23(b), "it is undeniable that the Legislatnre intended for the retroactivity of special parole 

considerations for persons serving long prison sentences as a result of offenses committed prior to 

reaching the age of eighteen (18)." (Pet'r's Br. 10.) This provision provides: 

When a person who is serving a sentence imposed as the result of an offense 
or offenses committed when he or she was less than eighteen years of age 
becomes eligible for parole pursuant to applicable provi sions of this code, 
including, but not limited to, section twenty-three, article eleven, chapter 
sixty-one thereof, the parole board shan ensure that the procedures 
governing its consideration of the person's application for parole ensure 
that he or she is provided a meaningful opportunity to obtain release and 
shall adopt rules and guidelines to do so that are consistent with existing 
case law. 

W.Va. Code § 62-12-13b(a) (2014). 

This provision in no way compels an understanding that West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(b) 

should be applied retroactively. While this provision mentions § 61-11-23, this provision itself 

does not address retroactivity, and Petitioner fails to explain why it would otherwise compel 

retroactive application of § 61-11-23(b), except to conclude that it does. (Pet'r's Br. at 10.) With 

the language providing that an offender who is incarcerated for offenses committed while a minor 

"becomes eligible for parole pursuant to applicable provisions of this code, including, but not 

(2016) (holding that Graham is not implicated for "multiple term-of-years sentences imposed on mUltiple 
crimes that, by virtue of the accumulation, exceed[ 1 the criminal defendant's life expectancy"). 
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limited to, section twenty-three, article eleven, chapter sixty-one thereof," this provision by its 

tenns does not suggest that § 61-11-23(b) must apply retroactively. Petitioner, when he becomes 

eligible for parole, will still be covered by § 62-12-13b(a)'s requirement that he is "provided a 

meaningful opportunity to obtain release"; however, Petitioner is not going to become eligible for 

parole under § 61-1 1-23 (b), because it does not apply to him. 

Accordingly, because West Virginia Code § 61-11-23 does not contain any language to 

indicate that its provisions - including subsection (b) - should be applied retroactively, and 

because Petitioner's reasons that it should be interpreted to be retroactive by implication are 

without merit, this Court should affinn the Circuit Court's detennination that the provision should 

not be applied retroactively. 

C. Petitioner's Due Process and Proportionality Claims Were Waived By His Failure to 
Raise Them on Direct Appeal. 

West Virginia's Habeas Corpus Statute, § 53-4A-I, provides that: 

a contention or contentions and the grounds in fact or law relied upon in support 
thereof shall be deemed to have been waived when the petitioner could have 
advanced, but intelligently and knowingly failed to advance, such contention or 
contentions and grounds before trial, at trial, or on direct appeal (whether or not 
said petitioner actually took an appeal). 

W.Va. Code § 53-4A-I(c). Relying on this section, this Court has held that "the burden of proof 

rests on petitioner to rebut the presumption that he intelligently and knowingly waived any 

contention or ground for relief which theretofore he could have advanced on direct appeal. Syl. 

Pt. 2, Ford v. COiner, 156 W.Va. 362, 196 S.E.2d 91, 92 (1972); e.g., State ex reI. Tucker v. 

McBride, No. 11-0593,2012 WL 3194048, at *7 (W.Va. Mar. 9,2012) ("The Petitioner, however, 

did not raise this contention on direct appeal, and makes no showing sufficient to rebut the 

presumption that he thereby knowingly and intelligently waived this assignment of error. 

Therefore, the Court finds that said ground has been waived."). 
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As discussed above, Petitioner filed a direct appeal, which the SCA WV denied in a 

Memorandum Decision. However, in that appeal, Petitioner did not raise the claim that his due 

process rights had been violated because his conviction relied on false testimony or the claim that 

his sentence was disproportionate. However, these claims could have been addressed on direct 

appeal. See, e.g. State v. Prophet, 234 W.Va. 33, 45-46 762 S.E.2d 602, 614-15 (2014) 

(adjudicating a false testimony-based due process claim on direct appeal); State v. Booth, 224 

W.Va. 307,313-16,685 S.E.2d 701, 707-10 (2009) (adjudicating a propOltionality chalIenge on 

direct appeal). Accordingly, upon filing his petition, Petitioner faced rebuttable presumption that 

he had waived these claims by not raising them on direct appeal. Because Petitioner did not 

attempt to rebut this presumption, as he is required to do under Ford, these claims were waived. 

Respondent recognizes that the Circuit Court reached these issues on their merits. (App. 

at 4-12.) However "[t]his Court may, on appeal, affirm the jUdgment of the lower court when it 

appears that such judgment is correct on any legal ground disclosed by the record, regardless of 

the ground, reason or theory assigned by the lower court as the basis for its judgment." Syl. PI. 3, 

Barnett v. Wolfolk, 149 W.Va. 246, 140 S.E.2d 466, 467 (1965). As the Circuit Court could have 

properly determined that these two claims were waived, this Court can properly affirm on that 

basis. 

D. Petitioner's Due Process Rights Were Not Violated by the Testimony of J.T. 

Defendant's second assignment of error raises the claim that his due process rights were 

violated by the State's irttroduction of J.T. 's testimony, which it knew or should have known to be 

false. (Pet'r's Br. at II.) This Court announced in the test for this claim in State ex reI. Franklin 

v. McBride: 

In order to obtain a new trial on a claim that the prosecutor presented false 
testimony at trial, a defendant must demonstrate that (I) the prosecutor presented 
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false testimony, (2) the prosecutor knew or should have known the testimony was 
false, and (3) the false testimony had a material effect on the jury verdict. 

Syl. Pt. 2, 226 W.Va. 375, 701 S.E.2d 97, 98 (2009). In interpreting challenges under this test, 

this Court has made clear that attacks on the credibility of a witness are legally insufficient to 

establish that the witness's testimony was false. In State v. Brown, this court found that the 

petitioner failed to demonstrate that the prosecution had presented false testimony merely by 

demonstrating that the relevant witnesses "were disreputable persons who had reasons to lie." 210 

W.Va. 14,27,552 S.E.2d 390, 403 (2001). This Court reached a similar conclusion in Franklin, 

noting that a demonstration that there was reason to doubt the credibility of the prosecution's 

witnesses was insufficient to show that their testimony was false. 226 W.va. at 381, 701 S.E.2d 

at 103 ("Mr. Franklin has done no more than argue, like the defendant in Brown, that the State's 

witnesses had motives to lie. Such an assertion is legally insufficient to sustain a claim that the 

State presented false testimony."); see also Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657,461 S.E.2d 

163, 169 (1995) ("Credibility determinations are for a jury and not an appellate court."). 

Petitioner's claim fails because he has not demonstrated that J.T's testimony was false. 

Petitioner claims that J.T's testimony was "fabricated and/or coerced due to lack of personal 

knowledge of the witness." (Pet'r's Br. at II.) However, Petitioner provides no evidence tbat 

ITo's testimony was actually false; instead, he relies on attacks on J.To's credibility. Petitioner 

points out that, during J.To's testimony, he struggled to provide details and answer questions about 

what Petitioner had done to him. (Pet'r's Br. at 12-13.) Petitioner also notes that, according to 

his Mother S.To's testimony, when J.T. told her about what Petitioner had done to him, he said 

"[Petitioner] made us suck his weenie"; Petitioner makes much of the fact that J.T. used the 

pronoun "us" rather than "me," when describing the incident, and asserts that this demonstrates he 

was simply repeating a version of events related by W.T. or his parents. (Pet'r's Br. at 12.) He 
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also notes that during cross-examination, J.T. admitted that in a pretrial interview he had stated 

that he knew what Petitioner had done to them because his hrother W.T. told him. (pet'r's Br. at 

191.) 

Petitioner's arguments fail to demonstrate that J. T.'s testimony was false. All Petitioner' s 

arguments do is call into question J.T.'s credibility as a witness, which this Court has determined 

to be within the realm of the jury. See State v. Prophet, 234 W.Va. 33, 45, 762 S.E.2d 602, 614 

(2014) (finding no conclusive evidence that witness's testimony was false where witness "testified 

to things on direct examination that were inconsistent with or omitted from statements he 

previously made to police officers," "had a motive to lie and a checkered past," and that his 

"testimony contradicted other evidence at trial"). As Petitioner notes, his counsel successfully 

cross-examined J.T. at trial, which is the appropriate protection against potentially incredible 

witness. See Kitchen v. Ballard, No. 15-0463,2016 WL 2970055, at *5 (W.Va. May 20,2016) 

("Inconsistency in Mr. Boyce's testimony does not render his testimony false; rather, it provided 

fodder for the defense to argue at trial that he was not credible."). Accordingly, Petitioner has not 

demonstrated that J.T. rendered false testimony, and so his claim that his due process rights were 

violated must fail. 

Given that Petitioner has failed to showtbat IT. ' s testimony was false, it is unnecessary to 

consider his argument that the prosecution knew the testimony to be false; however, if the Court 

were to consider it, Petitioner has not even argued the point, except to conclude that "the State 

knew or should have known that J.T. had no independent recollection of the alleged events." 

(pet'r's Br. at 12-13.) Though it is also unnecessary to consider whether his testimony had a 

material effect on the jury verdict, Respondent feels compelled to note that Petitioner's argument 

on this point decidedly misrepresents the evidence on this issue. Petitioner claims that J.T.'s 
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testimony was "the sole evidence presented by the State" related to the sexual assault and sexual 

abuse charges related to J.T. CPet'r's Br. at 12.) In fact, the State introduced testimony from W.T. 

that while he was babysitting them, Petitioner took J.T. into the bathroom and locked W.T. out. 

CAppo at 168-70.) W.T. also testified that when Petitioner opened the door, J.T. was sitting on the 

bathroom counter along with a bottle of ketchup. (App. at 170.) Additionally, the boys' mother 

S.T. testified that the decorative towels in the bathroom were covered in ketchup when she arrived 

home. CAppo at 138-39.) Indeed, this Court recognized on direct appeal that there was sufficient 

evidence to support Petitioner's conviction for sexual abuse of J.T., recognizing much of this 

evidence other than l.T.'s testimony. See J  No. 13-1088,2014 WL 2681229, at *2-3. 

Accordingly, Petitioner's due process rights were not violated by the State's introduction 

of l.T. 's testimony, so the Court should affirm the Circuit Court's order. 

E. Petitioner's Sentences Are Not Constitutionally Disproportionate to His Crimes. 

Petitioner's third assignment of error argues that his sentence is disproportionate to his 

crimes, in violation of the West Virginia Constitution. As discussed above, Petitioner was given 

three different indeterminate sentences: two sentences of ten to twenty years imprisonment for his 

two convictions of sexual abuse by a custodian, and one sentence of fifteen to thirty-five years 

imprisonment for his sexual assault in the first degree conviction. The Circuit Court ordered that 

these sentences run consecutively, resulting in an aggregate term of thirty-five to seventy-five 

years imprisonment. Petitioner concedes that his sentences were within statutory limits and not 

based on an impermissible factor, but maintains that his aggregate sentence violates the Attide III, 

Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution because it is disproportionate to the offenses. (Pet'r's 

Br. at 14.) For the following reasons, the Court should find that Petitioner's sentence was not 

disproportionate (0 his crimes. 
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1. Petitioner's Sentence is Not Subject to Appellate Review. 

Article III, Section 5 provides, in relevant part, that "penalties shall be proportioned to the 

character and degree of the offence." W. Va. Const. art. IJI, § 5. However, this Court has 

recognized that "[w]hile our constitutional proportionality standards theoretically can apply to any 

criminal sentence, they are basically applicable to those sentences where there is either no fixed 

maximum set by statute or where there is a life recidivist sentence." SyJ. Pt. 4, Wanstreet v. 

Bordenkircher, 166 W.Va. 523, 523,276 S.E.2d 205, 207 (1981). Additionally, "[s]entences 

imposed by the trial court, if within statutory limits and if not based on some [im]permissible 

factor, are not subject to appellate review." Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Goodnight, 169 W.Va. 366, 287 

S.E.2d 504, 505 (1982). 

Relying on these principles, this Court has declined to review proportionality challenges to 

sentences rendered under statutes providing maximum penalties. See, e.g., Robert J. M v. Ballard, 

No. 14-1315,2016 WL 3369556, at *12 (W.Va. June 17,2016) ("Here, petitioner's potential 

sentence had a fixed maximum and petitioner did not receive a life recidivist sentence; accordingly, 

we decline to apply our proportionality standards in this case."); Carl T. v. Ballard, No. 15-0649, 

2016 WL 3193467, at *2 (W.Va. June 3, 2016) ("Therefore, as petitioner's case involves neither a 

life recidivist sentence nor a statute with no fixed maximum sentence, we conclude that the circuit 

court did not err in refusing to consider his disproportionality argument."); State v. Slater, 222 

W. Va. 499, 508, 665 S.E.2d 674, 683 (2008) (concluding in response to a proportionality challenge 

that "[w]e deem it generally to be the better practice to decline to review sentences that are within 

statutory limits and where no impermissible sentence factor is indicated"); State v. Manley, 212 

W.Va. 509, 513, 575 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2002) (where "[a]l! of these statutes contain fixed maximum 

periods of incarceration and the sentences imposed by the circuit court were within those 

parameters" finding "that the sentence imposed upon the appellant does not warrant application of 
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constitutional proportionality standards"). Because Petitioner was sentenced under statutes 

providing maximum penalties and he has not been sentenced as a recidivist, and because he was 

sentenced within statutory principles and the Circuit Court did not rely on any impermissible 

factors, this Court should decline to review his proportionality challenge. 

2. Considered In Light of Either Test This Court Has Established, Petitioner's 
Sentence is Not Disproportionate to His Crimes. 

However, to the extent this Court decides to address Petitioner' s proportionality challenge, 

it is without merit. This Court has recognized two tests to detemline if a sentence is so 

disproportionate to a crime that it violates the state constitution. The first test is subjective: in 

State v. Cooper, this Court held that "[p Junishment may be constitutionally impermissible, 

although not cruel or unusual in its method, if it is so disproportionate to the crime for which it is 

inflicted that it shocks the conscience and offends fundamental notions of human dignity." Syl.

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